I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. There was insufficient evidence to find Montgomery guilty of perjury.

2. The trial court violated Montgomery's right to confront his accuser when it forbid him from asking Barham about his previous conviction for a crime of dishonesty?

3. The trial court erred in sealing the juror questionnaires without a *Bone-Club* hearing.

II. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- Where the State failed to present the testimony of at least one credible witness which is positive and directly contradictory of the defendant's oath, was there sufficient evidence to convict Montgomery of perjury?
- 2. Where the State failed to present a second direct witness or independent evidence of corroborating circumstances of such a character as clearly to turn the scale and overcome the oath of the defendant, was there sufficient evidence to convict Montgomery of perjury?

- 3. Where the state had a heightened burden of proof and the credibility of the witnesses was central to the case, did the trial court err in holding that Montgomery could not ask Barham about his prior conviction for a crime of dishonesty?
- 4. Where the trial court sealed the juror questionnaires without a *"Bone-Club"* analysis, must this Court reverse the conviction?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jeffery Ray Montgomery was charged with one count of first degree perjury. The State alleged that on March 16, 2010, he made a false statement under oath in an official proceeding. CP 325-26. The prosecution hinged on the question of whether Montgomery lied during a CrR 3.6 suppression hearing when he testified that he did not enter Robert Barham's house to retrieve a gun.

On January 21, 2009, Robert Barham was arrested by Pierce County Deputy Sheriffs Jeffery Montgomery and Rex McNicol. The deputies were called in response to a 911 call from Jesse Anderson, age 12. ER 458. He said that he was afraid of his mother's boyfriend, Robert Barham, and that there was a gun in the house. A police report, authored by Montgomery, stated that during the welfare check both officers had entered the Barham house and retrieved a gun. Kawyne Lund was the Pierce County Deputy Prosecuting Attorney assigned to prosecute Robert Barham for being felon in possession of a firearm in the first degree. RP 108. Prior to trial Barham moved to suppress the firearm seized from him at the time of his arrest. RP 108-109. He argued that Deputies McNicol and Montgomery found that gun after entering his home but that they did not have the right to enter. RP 110. According to Lund, based on her review of the police reports, she thought Barham's motion was "ridiculous" because the deputies had the right to enter under the "community caretaking function." RP 110, 112-114.

The suppression hearing was held on March 16, 2010. RP 116. Prior to the hearing Lund had a brief, joint meeting with McNicol and Montgomery. RP 117-118. Lund told the officers that she believed they had a right to be in the house. *Id* But while Montgomery and McNicol were waiting outside the courtroom, McNicol asked to see the report. After reviewing the report McNicol told Montgomery that the report was incorrect – that they had not entered the house to get the gun. Instead Barham brought it out to them. RP 402.

At the suppression hearing Deputy Montgomery testified that he and Deputy McNicol received a call at about 6:30 p.m. on January 21, 2009 for a "welfare check." Plaintiff's Exhibit 3 at 39. He and McNicol walked up to the front door and Barham answered. *Id* at 40. He stepped down off the

porch with Jesse to ask why he had called the police. *Id* at 40. Montgomery stated that he was having a hard time recalling the details of the encounter. *Id.* at 42. But prior to arriving at the residence he confirmed that Barham was a convicted felon. *Id.* at 43. Montgomery concluded that Jesse was not at risk. When it came to the gun, Montgomery testified that when he first saw the gun, it was in McNicol's hands. RP 44. He said: "I went up on the porch and took the rifle from Deputy McNicol." *Id* Later, "after everything was secured, [I] went back in to speak with Jesse's mother, and she kind of walked us through the house to show us where it came from." *Id* at 45. Montgomery said that he and McNicol had discussed the case.

Mr. Barham's counsel, Chip Mosley, cross-examined Montgomery at length about the discrepancy between his report and his testimony. He testified quite clearly that he made a mistake in his report when he reported that he had gone into the house to get the gun. *Id* at 54. He stated that what he meant was that he had walked onto the covered porch to get the gun from Barham. *Id.* at 60. He reiterated that he did go into the house later to speak to Barham's girlfriend, Resch. *Id.* at 56.

Prosecutor Lund attempted to clarify and asked Montgomery to look at his report. She asked about the discrepancy between the report, which stated that that he had taken the gun from Barham on the porch, and

Montgomery's testimony. *Id* at 46. Montgomery stated that the report was incorrect and a mistake.

According to Lund, it was only after Montgomery testified that she thought the deputies had lied. "At this point I realized that they had changed their testimony, and I was stunned." RP 144.

Nonetheless, she said she did not ask for a recess because "it was improper." RP 144. Moreover, she said: "It was starting to dawn on me that this was no accident. These two had talked about it and I didn't figure there was going to be any difference." RP 144. Lund admitted that she never told defense counsel that she believed the deputies were lying. She also admitted that in her closing argument at the hearing, she said that it didn't really matter how the deputies got in the house. RP 169. In that hearing she argued as follows: "The Court saw Officer Montgomery. He's a young officer. He admitted he made a mistake. I can pretty well guarantee you that he is going to probably be one of the more careful report writers we're going to have from now on." Exhibit 7; RP 293. She put a memo about the hearing in her file, but that memo did not say that the deputies lied. RP 181.¹

At trial Lund testified that this was the first time she had ever questioned a deputy's credibility RP 210. But in cross-examination, she admitted that she had previously reported a TPD police officer for lying RP 225

At the close of the hearing the trial judge suppressed the gun. RP 146. But it was not until May 2010, two months after the hearing, that Lund called the Sheriff's Office and told them that she believed the officers had lied. RP 148.

During the post-hearing investigation, Montgomery gave a statement to the Pierce County Sheriff's Department investigator. Exhibit 14, 15. The investigating officer accused Montgomery of discussing the case in the hall with McNicol and agreeing as to what they were going to say in court. Exhibit at 6. Montgomery said: "I can assure you that is not what it was." *Id.* Montgomery repeated that he believed, based upon Deputy McNicol's statement, that the police report was incorrect. He continued to state that given the discrepancy between what he remembered and what Deputy McNicol remembered, he was not sure what happened. *Id* at 13. Montgomery said that because McNicol had been the one to retrieve the gun, and because he trusted McNicol, he believed that his report was incorrect. *Id.* at 14. He stated that "looking back, I should have had him write a supplemental report." But Montgomery said that he had no reason to believe that Deputy McNicol would "lead me astray." *Id.*

Montgomery also testified at trial. He said that his job was to talk to Jesse about his welfare. RP 396. Deputy McNicol contacted Barham. McNicol got the gun, gave it to Montgomery and placed Barham in his patrol car. The two then went into the house to talk to Barham's girlfriend, Resch. Montgomery filed his report and did not look at it again until March 16, 2010, in Ms. Lund's office. RP 401.

Montgomery also said that after the hearing Ms. Lund never questioned him about the difference between his report and his corrected testimony. RP 405. He stated that he believed the testimony he gave was the truth. *Id*.

McNicol testified that he did not prepare a police report regarding the incident. RP 443. He did not read Montgomery's report until just before the suppression hearing. RP 443. He told Montgomery that the report was wrong and that they were going to be cross-examined about it. RP 445. He said that he thought that as a result, the gun would be suppressed. RP 446. He said he never considered testifying in conformity with the report because that would have been untrue. *Id.* McNicol said that he told Lund about the discrepancy. *Id.* He said that he did not need to "change his story" to save the case because he believed he would have authority to enter the house in any event. RP 447. He categorically denied lying about any of his actions at the Barham residence. RP 446-48.

The only two other witnesses with direct evidence of the incident were State's witnesses Barham and Resch. They gave conflicting testimony.

Barham, a convicted felon, testified that on January 21, 2009, two deputies came to his home. RP 231. He knew that he was not supposed to have a gun. *Id.* He said that the deputies told him they were there for a child welfare check. RP 232. One deputy took his son off to the side; the other officer spoke with him. *Id.* According to Barham, he took McNicol to his back bedroom. His girlfriend, Resch, got the gun out of the closet and handed it to Deputy McNicol. *Id.* Barham stated that by the time the gun was out of the closet, Montgomery was in the bedroom. RP 238. Barham said that Montgomery took the clip out of the gun. *Id.* Barham said that he was arrested on the front porch. RP 242. Then he was placed in McNicol's patrol car. *Id*

Resch, Barham's girlfriend, testified that when she first saw the two deputies they were in the front room. RP 257. She said the deputies asked if there was a gun in the home. When Barham said that there was, the deputies took him to the front porch and handcuffed him. He was then placed in the police vehicle. *Id.* According to Resch, she pointed out the gun's location. *Id.*

I pointed him to in the closet where the gun was at. I know this because there was a bunch of stuff in the middle of the floor. He had to step over. He reached in and grabbed it, and then he went out and put it in the back of the car. RP 261. Resch had previously stated that she did not remember if she handed the gun to the deputy or he reached in and grabbed the gun. RP 269. Resch said that the other deputy remained in the front room with her son the entire time. RP 257.

The State's remaining three witness had no direct evidence. Lund testified to her participation in the suppression hearing and her belated report to the authorities. Chip Mosley testified that he filed a motion arguing that the officers did not have a legal basis to enter the home. RP 279. Ms. Lund never asked for a continuance. RP 288. Ms. Lund never told him that she suspected that Montgomery was lying. RP 289. Mosley explained that if a lawyer suspects a witness will lie, he or she must not call the witness or rely upon the witness's testimony. RP 297.

Detective Sergeant Ben Benson was called to lay the foundation for the admission of Montgomery's taped statement. He admitted that people were allowed to testify differently and admitted that people were mistaken at times. RP 346. Benson admits that Montgomery had almost no notes of the incident – just three names written on a piece of paper.

Three character witnesses testified on Montgomery's behalf. RP 367-372. The jury subsequently convicted Montgomery as charged. CP 372. Judgment and Sentence were entered. CP 373-386. This timely appeal followed. CP 387-403.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE STATE FAILED TO MEET THE HEIGHTENED BURDEN OF PROOF IN THIS CASE

First degree perjury is committed "if in any official proceeding" a person "makes a materially false statement which he knows to be false under an oath required or authorized by law." The requirements of proof in a perjury case are more stringent than those in any other area of law except treason. *State v. Olson*, 92 Wn.2d 134, 136, 594 P.2d 1337 (1979). Proof of the falsity must meet certain requirements as to form in addition to being proved beyond a reasonable doubt. To prove perjury, the State must present:

1. The testimony of at least one credible witness which is positive and directly contradictory of the defendant's oath; and

2. Another such direct witness or independent evidence of corroborating circumstances of such a character as clearly to turn the scale and overcome the oath of the defendant and the legal presumption of his innocence.

Olson, 92 Wn.2d at 136; State v. Wallis, 50 Wn.2d 350, 311 P.2d 659 (1957).

In *Wallıs*, the defendant testified in the prosecution of another for the sale of beer to minors, that he had heard no words or had seen no acts by a store owner indicating the unlawful sale of beer to a minor. The state called

other witnesses who said that on several occasions the defendant stated that he had observed such acts and had heard such words in the store. The Court stated:

Contradictory statements, sworn or unsworn, are not direct evidence of the falsity of the testimony which the law requires. Indeed, it may be said that while such evidence creates a strong probability of the appellant's guilt, or even proof beyond a reasonable doubt, the law still requires direct and independent evidence of the falsity of the testimony in addition. It is impossible to say whether the affidavit and the contradictory statements are true or whether the testimony is true.

Id. at 354-55.

The direct testimony must come "from someone in a position to know of his or her own experience that the facts sworn to by defendant are false." *Nessman v Sumpter*, 27 Wn. App. 18, 24, 615 P.2d 522, *review denied by State v. Howie*, 94 Wn.2d 1021 (1980). One purpose of the heightened proof requirement is to avoid swearing contests that pit one witness's oath against another. *State v. Dial*, 44 Wn. App. 11, 16, 720 P.2d 461, *review denied*, 106 Wn.2d 1016 (1986); *State v. White*, 31 Wn. App. 655, 660, 644 P.2d 693 (1982).

There is no credible, corroborated evidence that Montgomery knowingly testified falsely when he said that he and McNicol did not enter the house. The state had only two witnesses in a position to know of his or her own experience that the facts sworn to by Montgomery were false: Barham and Resch. Barham, a convicted felon, had every reason to lie at both the suppression hearing and this trial. Moreover, his testimony conflicts with that supplied by Resch. Thus, even the other two witnesses who were present at scene disagree about what happened.

Moreover, the State has no corroborating evidence of the perjury. The State may rely on Plaintiff's Exhibit 1 in rebutting Montgomery's claims and argue that the report itself is such evidence. But this Court must remember that nothing in that exhibit was admitted as substantive evidence. Counsel objected to the admission of the police report because it was hearsay. RP 122. The State said that the report "is not being offered for the truth of the matter asserted." *Id.* The State also said that the report was a business record and a statement by a party opponent. Defense counsel argued that only portions of the exhibit would be admissible as "statements of a party opponent." RP 123. Nonetheless, the Court admitted the document.

Careful analysis reveals that the only basis on which the police report was admitted was on the basis that it could not be relied on for the truth of the matters asserted therein. That is because neither of the other reasons cited by the State would have permitted its introduction as substantive evidence. A police officer's investigative summary is inadmissible hearsay that does not qualify for admission under the business records exception to the hearsay

rule. *In re Det. of Coe*, 160 Wn. App. 809, 829, 250 P.3d 1056, 1066, *review granted*, 172 Wn.2d 1001, 258 P.3d 685 (2011); *State v Hines*, 87 Wn. App. 98, 101-02, 941 P.2d 9, 11 (1997).

Even if, at some level, the police report was a "statement" by Montgomery, although he has consistently disavowed its accuracy, in the absence of an applicable exception to the hearsay rule, the portions of the police report that contain the statements of others may not be admitted into evidence. See, e.g., United States v Boyd, 640 F.3d 657, 662, 664-65 (6th Cir.), cert. denied, 132 S.Ct. 271, 181 L.Ed.2d 160 (2011) (each level of hearsay must be independently admissible even where "top" level is plainly the statement of a party opponent); United States v. \$92,203 00, 537 F.3d 504, 508 (5th Cir. 2008) (where law enforcement officer told agent about defendant's statements, and agent took the stand, agent's testimony about what law enforcement officer said was inadmissible hearsay even though defendant's statements to law enforcement officer were admissions of partyopponent); Vazquez v. Lopez-Rosario, 134 F.3d 28, 34 (1st Cir. 1998) (For hearsay-within-hearsay to be admissible, "[e]ach link in the chain must be admissible, either because it is an admission and thus not hearsay or under some other hearsay exception.").

Because the trial court did not redact those portions of the police report that were not statements made by Montgomery, it clearly did not admit

the report on the basis that it was a statement of a party opponent. Thus, it was admitted on the basis that nothing in the report was submitted for its truth. If the evidence was not submitted as true, then it cannot corroborate any other facts.

In the end, this case is precisely the type of swearing contest that the law seeks to avoid. None of it rises to the level of perjury. Worse yet, Deputy Montgomery had no intention of knowingly lying to anyone. After Deputy McNicol told him the report was incorrect, he believed that it was. After all, Deputy McNicol was the officer who actually obtained the gun and was in a better position to recall what happened. When corrected, Deputy Montgomery testified to the corrected facts. That simply cannot constitute perjury under the law.

B. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED MONTGOMERY'S RIGHT TO CONFRONT AND CROSS-EXAMINE HIS ACCUSER.

Robert Barham had convictions for VUSCA (1995), possession of stolen property (1996), attempting to elude the police (1996), attempted possession of stolen property (2000) and VUSCA (2003). Because of the heighten evidentiary standards for a perjury charge, defense counsel moved for the admission of Barham's 2000 conviction because it was for a crime of dishonesty. RP 87-89. The state argued that the conviction was outside the ten year limit of ER 609. The prosecutor argued: So it is presumptively out unless the defense can make some persuasive showing as to why it should get in. The reason the State doesn't think it should get in is they're already going to hear about this other felony conviction. I think this would just be stacking on top of that. As I said, I think that one is relevant because the deputies knew about that one.

RP 90-91.

The judge ruled

I'm going to -- because it's outside the time period allowed by statute, I'm going to deny the ability to use the attempted possession of stolen property in the second degree. The fact that he has been convicted of a drug offense, which is typically not allowed, I think will give the defense plenty of opportunity to question his credibility.

ER 93.

A person accused of a crime has a constitutional right to confront his or her accuser. U.S. Const. amend. VI; U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Wash. Const. art. 1, § 22; *State v Darden*, 145 Wn.2d 612, 620, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002). The primary and most important component is the right to conduct a meaningful cross-examination of adverse witnesses. *State v. Foster*, 135 Wn.2d 441, 456, 957 P.2d 712 (1998). ER 608(b) allows cross-examination of a witness regarding specific instances of misconduct to impeach a witness's credibility, particularly concerning the witness's character for truthfulness or untruthfulness. Adequate cross-examination includes the opportunity to question witnesses to reveal "possible biases, prejudices, or ulterior motives of the witness as they may relate directly to issues or personalities in the case at hand." *Davis v. Alaska*, 415 U.S. 308, 316, 94 S.Ct. 1105, 39 L.Ed.2d 47 (1974). The more essential a witness is to the State's case, the more latitude the defendant should have to explore the motive, bias, and credibility of that witness. *Darden*, 145 Wn.2d at 619.

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