COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JEFFERY MONTGOMERY AND REX MCNICOL,

Appellants.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT M. MCKENNA Attorney General

Melanie Tratnik Assistant Attorney General WSBA #25576 800 5th Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 206-464-6430

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

Appellants further assert that ER 609(b) required the trial court to consider the non-exclusive factors set forth in State v. Alexis, 95 Wn.2d 15, 19, 621 P.2d 1269 (1980), and State v. Rivers, 129 Wn.2d 697, 706, 921 P.2d 495 (1996). These factors are: (1) the length of the defendant's criminal record; (2) remoteness of the prior conviction; (3) nature of the prior crime; (4) the age and circumstances of the defendant; (5) centrality of the credibility issue; and (6) the impeachment value of the prior crime.

Appellants misconstrue these cases because consideration of these factors applies only when evaluating whether a conviction should be admitted under ER 609(1)(a). Appellants have failed to identify any cases, and the State has been unable to find any, which require that these factors be addressed when evaluating whether to admit an over-aged conviction under ER 609(b).

Given that factor two, the remoteness of the conviction, is already encompassed by 609(b) it would be nonsensical to construe the

Alexis/Rivers factors as applying to an analysis conducted under 609(b). Appellants' assertion that Alexis and Rivers apply to convictions evaluated under 609(b) is further questionable because two of the factors, the length of the defendant's criminal record and the age and circumstances of the defendant, only apply when the State is seeking to admit a defendant's conviction.

This Court should reject Appellants' invitation, made with no authority, to require trial courts to conduct a balancing test and to weigh the factors set forth in Alexis and Rivers when addressing a motion to admit a conviction under ER 609(b).

2. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it excluded Barham's stale conviction where Defendants failed to meet their burden of providing specific facts or circumstances to overcome the presumption of inadmissibility under ER 609(b).

A trial court's rulings regarding prior convictions under ER 609 are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Rivers, 129 Wn.2d 697, 704-05, 921 P.2d 495 (1996), citing State v. King, 75 Wn.App. 899, 910, n. 5, 878 P.2d 466 (1994), review denied, 125 Wn.2d, 890 P.2d 463 (1995). A trial court abuses its discretion only when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). Absent an abuse of discretion,

a reviewing court will not disturb a trial court's ruling. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 78, 882 P.2d 747 (1994).

If a conviction is outside the ten-year time period set forth in 609(b), the party moving to admit the conviction bears the burden of demonstrating that the probative value of the conviction outweighs the inherent prejudice of the prior conviction. State v. Jones, 101 Wn.2d 113, 120, 677 P.2d 131 (1984). Even if this court were to hold that the non-exclusive Alexis/Rivers factors apply to convictions reviewed under ER 609(b) these factors weigh heavily against admitting Barham's attempted PSP2 conviction.

Washington courts have recognized the inherent prejudice of admitting prior convictions, and the strong tendency of prior convictions to mislead juries. State v. Newton, 109 Wn.2d 69, 76, 734 P.2d 254 (1987). Convictions which fall under ER 609(b) are especially disfavored because stale convictions are rarely relevant in assessing a witness' credibility. State v. Gomez, 75 Wn. App. 648, 652, 880 P.2d 56 (1994). Therefore, the prejudicial effect of admitting over-aged convictions will almost always outweigh their probative value." Id.

The rule that convictions which are more than ten years should be admitted very rarely and only in the most exceptional circumstances applies with equal force to crimes of dishonesty as it does to other crimes. See, State v. Jones, 117 Wn. App. 221, 70 P.3d 171 (2003); State v. Russell, 104 Wn. App. 422, 437-38, 16 P.3d 664 (2001); United States v. Bensimon, 172 F.3d 1121, 1126 (9th Cir. 1999). The prejudicial effect of admitting prior convictions to assess credibility applies equally to witnesses as it does to criminal defendants. Newton, 109 Wn.2d at 76.

Appellants rely almost exclusively on the argument that the importance of Barham's testimony justifies the admission of his over-aged conviction. This argument fails, because it has been rejected by both Washington courts and by the Ninth Circuit. For instance, in State v. Jones, 117 Wn. App. at 233, Defendant argued that a witness' twenty-year-old forgery conviction should have been admitted for impeachment purposes because the witness at issue was the State's key witness, and that excluding the conviction violated his constitutional right to confrontation. As in the instant case, Jones argued that "without his testimony, the State had no case." Id. The reviewing court rejected this argument, explaining that convictions that are over ten years old, even those involving crimes of dishonesty are presumed to be irrelevant and are therefore generally inadmissible. Id., citing State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 15, 659 P.2d 514 (1983). The court explained:

Under ER 609(a) and (b) a conviction for a crime of dishonesty that occurred more than 10 years ago is presumed to be inadmissible for the purposes of attacking

the credibility of a witness. Thus, the evidence is presumed to be irrelevant to credibility, absent specific facts or circumstances from which the trial court can determine, in the interest of justice that the convictions has probative value that outweighs its prejudicial effect. ... [T]here is no indication in the record of any specific facts or circumstances by which the trail court could determine that the evidence was nevertheless relevant to Spragg's credibility as a witness at all, let alone that its probative value outweighed its prejudicial effect.

Jones, 117 Wn.App. at 233.

Similarly in U.S. v. Bensimon, 172 F.3d 1121, the Ninth Circuit held that the trial court abused its discretion when it admitted the defendant's seventeen-year old mail fraud conviction. The trial court had accepted the government's argument that "the probative value of impeachment evidence is enhanced where the defendant's testimony is pitted against that of the government witnesses, thereby making the credibility of the defendant an important issue." Id. at 1126. The Ninth Circuit explicitly rejected that analysis, noting that "the probative value of a prior conviction may not be determined by how important the defendant's credibility is to the opposing party." Id., citing American Home Assurance Co. v. American President Lines, Ltd., 44 F.3d 774 (9th Cir. 1994). See also, State v. Moore, 44 Wn. App. 55, 61, 651 P.2d 765 (1982) (trial court's reliance on centrality of defendant's credibility in determining prior conviction's admissibility was abuse of discretion).

As in Jones and Bensimon, Appellants' bare assertion, unsupported by any specific facts or circumstances to demonstrate that a stale conviction would sufficiently bear on a witness' credibility so as to overcome the presumption of prejudice of admitting the conviction, does not meet the requirement for admissibility contained in ER 609(b).

The moving party "bears the burden of affirmatively showing some probative value." Jones, 101 Wn.2d at 123, citing U.S. v. Gross, 603 F.2d 757 (9th Cir. 1979). "By its terms, ER 609(b) requires a finding that probative value outweighs unfair prejudice not just slightly, but substantially." Russell, 104 Wn.App. at 435. Here, the probative value of Barham's ten year old gross misdemeanor conviction was minimal, if it existed at all.

The trial judge noted that the jury was already going to learn that Barham had been recently convicted of a felony, and this fact weighed against admitting a second and presumptively inadmissible conviction. RP 93. The trial court's reasoning is firmly supported by a long line of cases which have repeatedly recognized that admission of cumulative prior convictions should be avoided because of the inherent increased prejudicial effect which occurs when multiple convictions are admitted. See, e.g., Jones, 101 Wn.2d at 121-122; Gomez, 75 Wn. App. at 648.

More generally, the existence of other impeachment evidence weighs heavily against admitting prior conviction evidence. State v. Alexis, 95 Wn.2d 15, 20, 621 P.2d 1269 (1981); State v. Millante, 80 Wn. App. 237, 246, 908 P.2d 374 (1995); State v. Martinez, 38 Wn. App. 421, 685 P.2d 650 (1984). Martinez is illustrative. In Martinez, the defendant sought to admit an assault victim's eighteen-year-old conviction for passing a bad check. Id. at 422. The victim was an alcoholic, had consumed a large amount of alcohol prior to being stabbed, and had provided inconsistent versions of how the assault occurred. Id. at 424. The court held that encouraging witnesses to come forward and testify was a legitimate reason for excluding old convictions pursuant to ER 609(b), and that this interest outweighed the defendant's minimal interest in admitting an over-aged conviction. Id. The court noted that this was particularly true when, as here, other impeachment evidence existed. Id.

As in Martinez, Appellants had substantial material with which to impeach Barham. In addition to hearing about a felony drug conviction that would normally be inadmissible, the jury was also told that Barham was arrested and charged with the felony crime of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree, that a meth lab had been previously located at his home, that a twelve-year-old child living the home called 911 to report that he was afraid of Barham, and that Barham was a chronic meth user.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it held that in light of other impeachment evidence Barham's stale conviction should be excluded.

The potential prejudicial effect of admitting Barham's stale conviction was substantial. Aside from the inherent prejudice that attaches to the admission of any conviction, here sixteen of the fifty jurors disclosed that they had been the victim of a stolen property offense. RP 91. Admitting Barham's conviction for the same type of crime would have been especially prejudicial, fueling juror's personal and irrelevant dislike of him rather than providing legitimate information upon which to objectively assess his credibility. During the argument regarding Barham's convictions, neither the defendants nor the court took issue with the State's observation that voir dire had vividly demonstrated that the jurors already viewed the credibility of law enforcement officers far more highly than that of criminals. RP 91, 93. Given that jurors were already going to learn about Barham's many brushes with the law, including a felony conviction, any additional evidence regarding a stale conviction would have been particularly prejudicial.

A trial court has wide discretion in determining whether the probative value of evidence outweighs its potential prejudicial impact. State v. Coe, 101 Wn.2d 772, 782, 684 P.2d 668 (1984). The trial court's

ruling is firmly in line with well-established case law regarding the inadmissibility of old convictions under ER 609(b). In light of all the impeachment evidence already admitted against Barham, and Appellants' failure to make any meaningful showing that admission of a second and over-aged conviction was "supported by specific facts and circumstances" which "substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect," the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding Barham's attempted PSP2 conviction.

3. In light of the plentiful impeachment evidence admitted against Barham, Montgomery's right to meaningfully cross exam him was not violated by the trial court's decision to exclude a stale gross misdemeanor conviction.

Montgomery's claim that his right to cross exam Barham was violated is without merit. Exclusion of a State witness's prior conviction under ER 609(b) does not curtail a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses. State v. Martinez, 38 Wn. App. at 422-25. Crimes of dishonesty which are over ten years old are presumed to be irrelevant. Bensimon, 172 F.3d at 1126. Such convictions are therefore inadmissible absent some extraordinary showing because "the Sixth Amendment does not entitle a defendant to present irrelevant evidence." Id. at 233, citing State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 15, 659 P.2d 514 (1983). A defendant's ability to use other impeachment evidence may justify limiting cross examination. State v. Barnes, 54 Wn. App. 536, 551, 774 P.2d 547

(1989). Plentiful impeachment evidence was already admitted against Barham, thereby further diminishing any argument that his stale conviction should have been admitted. With all that in mind, Appellants' claim that they were denied a meaningful opportunity to cross examine Barham strains credulity.

4. Any error was harmless error.

Montgomery errs in claiming that the exclusion of an ER 609(b) conviction should be reviewed under a constitutional harmless error analysis because it implicates the right to cross examination. Washington State Supreme Court has already held that evidentiary rulings on the admissibility of evidence under ER 611 governing cross examination is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Rivers, 129 Wn.2d 697, 709, 921 P.2d 495 (1996); State v. Young, 89 Wn.2d 613, 628, 574 P.2d 1171, cert.denied., 439 U.S. 870 (1978). The proper standard of review is that an alleged ER 609 error is reviewed under a nonconstitutional harmless error standard. State v. Brown, 113 Wn.2d 520, 554, 782 P.2d 1013 (1989). Applying this standard, an erroneous ER 609 ruling does not constitute reversible error "unless, within reasonable probabilities, had the error not occurred, the outcome of the trial could have been materially affected." Id., Accord State v. Calegar, 133 Wn.2d 718, 727, 947 P.2d 235 (1997). The error claimed here was

harmless because the impeachment value of Barham's aged conviction was inconsequential, and because there was substantial evidence upon which to convict both Appellants.

The impeachment evidence admitted against Barham included a felony drug conviction, his felonious possession of a firearm, allegations of chronic meth use, and the prior existence of a meth lab in his home. Appellants have failed to explain how an over ten-year-old gross misdemeanor conviction would provide any significant impeachment value beyond the abundance of impeachment evidence the jury already received. In light of all the impeachment evidence admitted against Barham there was no reasonable provability that admitting a second conviction, especially an old one, would have materially affected the trial. As such, any error was harmless.

Also, contrary to Appellants' claim, the trial was not a swearing contest between Appellants and Barham. Barham was one of several witnesses called for the State, which along with many other pieces of evidence established Appellants' guilt.

Ms. Resch, a witness whom neither Appellant has discredited, also testified that both Appellants entered the house to retrieve the gun. Detective Benson provided extensive testimony regarding officer safety. He testified that an officer standing at the door of Barham's home could

not have seen Barham retrieve the gun from the bedroom and that no Pierce County sheriff's deputy would ever allow an unattended felon out of his sight to retrieve a gun. Benson took a recorded statement from Montgomery which was played for the jury. In that statement Montgomery admitted that his statements in his police report that both deputies had entered the home were accurate, and that he lied under oath when claiming otherwise.

McNicol's claim that he allowed a convicted felon to leave his sight and retrieve a gun unattended was incredible on its face, and doubly so given that Montgomery testified that he had never seen McNicol do such a thing and couldn't image that he ever would. McNicol's claim that he remembered the events that took place at the Barham home fourteen months later without the assistance of any notes and in the face of a supposedly inaccurate police report was equally incredible. McNicol's motive to lie was firmly established by the fact that he did not believe he had the right to enter the home to retrieve the gun, and did not tell Montgomery the police report was supposedly wrong until after the prosecutor told him the defense was seeking to suppress the gun based on the allegedly unlawful entry.

Appellants grossly exaggerate the importance of Barham's testimony and the minimal effect, if any, that admission of his stale

conviction would have had on the jury. Given the inconsequential value of that stale conviction, and the overwhelming weight of other evidence, there is no reasonable probability that admission of Barham's gross misdemeanor would have materially affected the outcome of the trial. Thus, any error in excluding Barham's stale conviction was harmless.

C. McNicol received effective assistance of counsel.

McNicol claims he received ineffective assistance of counsel because his counsel joined the codefendant's written motions instead of filing separate ones, and because he asked the trial court to sentence him to electronic home monitoring instead of jail. McNicol's challenge fails because he can show neither inadequate representation nor prejudice.

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